

15 July 2009 [11-09]

FIRST REVIEW REPORT

APPLICATION A614

FOOD DERIVED FROM GLYPHOSATE-TOLERANT COTTON LINE GHB614

For information on matters relating to this Assessment Report or the assessment process generally, please refer to <u>http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/standardsdevelopment/</u>.

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	
2. OBJECTIVES OF REVIEW	
3. GROUNDS FOR THE FIRST REVIEW	
3.1 Protection of public health and safety	
3.2 Previous reviews	4
3.3 Use of animal feeding studies in GM food assessments	4
4. BACKGROUND.	4
5. CONCLUSIONS FROM THE FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT	
6. ISSUES ADDRESSED IN FIRST REVIEW	5
6.1 Ingestion of recombinant DNA in food	
6.2 Purity of samples used for compositional analyses	6
6.3 The use of animal feeding studies in GM food safety assessments	7
7. REVIEW OPTIONS	
8. DECISION	
9. IMPLEMENTATION AND REVIEW	
ATTACHMENT 1 - DRAFT VARIATION TO THE AUSTRALIA NEW ZEALAND FOOD STANDARDS COL	<i>DE</i> 9
ATTACHMENT 2 - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND REASONS FOR DECISION FROM THE FINAL ASS	ESSMENT REPORT
ATTACHMENT 3 - LIST OF REFERENCES ON THE SAFETY OF RECOMBINANT DNA IN FOOD	

1. Introduction

On 9 February 2009, the Australia and New Zealand Food Regulation Ministerial Council (Ministerial Council) requested a First Review of Application A614, which seeks approval of food derived from genetically modified (GM) cotton – namely, glyphosate tolerant cotton line GHB614. Approval of this Application involves a variation to Standard 1.5.2 – Food produced using Gene Technology, of the *Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code* (the Code).

Following a request for a formal review, FSANZ has three months to complete a response. In this instance, FSANZ was granted an extension of time and was required to review the decision by 31 August 2009.

2. **Objectives of Review**

The objective of this Review is to reconsider the draft variation to Standard 1.5.2 in light of the Ministerial Council's grounds for review as outlined in Section 3 below.

3. Grounds for the First Review

A First Review of FSANZ's decision to approve Application A614 was sought on the grounds that the proposed amendment to Standard 1.5.2, to permit the sale and use of food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614, does not protect public health and safety.

3.1 Protection of public health and safety

A number of reasons has been put forward in asserting that the decision to approve food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 does not protect public health and safety.

Firstly, FSANZ is asked to clarify what is known about any potential health implications of work establishing proof of principle for persistence and uptake of foreign DNA in and across the gastrointestinal (GI) tract of mammals. The rationale for requesting a First Review of food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 on these grounds is identical to that used for the First Review of Applications A592 (glyphosate-tolerant soybean line MON89788), A595 (insect protected corn line MON 89034), A589 (glufosinate ammonium-tolerant rice line LLRICE62) and A1001 (insect-protected corn line MIR162). It has been suggested that the First Review Report for these Applications did not provide that clarity, although FSANZ has noted that the Ministerial Council did not request a Second Review of any of these applications.

Secondly, clarification is requested as to whether glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 and control samples used in the compositional analysis were pure, as contamination of non-GM control samples with GM material would mask differences and reduce the confidence that can be placed in a conclusion of no significant difference. The concern arises as a previous safety assessment, for glyphosate-tolerant soybean MON 89788 (A592) acknowledged contamination of one of the non-GM control samples with GM material $(\leq 3.05\%)$.

It is contended that such contamination may not be unusual and the Final Assessment Report for Application A614 provides no information about sampling and testing protocols. On this basis, the Review request further states that a conclusion of compositional equivalence cannot be accepted.

In summary, the Review request states that FSANZ should determine whether purity was adequately assessed, the outcome of that assessment, and if contamination occurred, clarify the policy it applies when evaluating compositional analysis results and cross-contamination, including whether a contamination tolerance has been set. The First Review request for this Application claims that 'this matter was not addressed adequately in the First Review Report for A1001, and so is raised again'.

3.2 Previous reviews

The First Review request for this Application claims that the issue of trace levels of contamination in samples used in the compositional analysis of glyphosate-tolerant soybean line MON89788 (Application A592) was not adequately clarified. FSANZ cannot re-open issues that have been previously addressed to the satisfaction of the Ministerial Council, and where the matter has subsequently been finalised.

3.3 Use of animal feeding studies in GM food assessments

The safety assessment of Application A614 did not rely on the results of a 40-day study in broiler chickens, however the study was included in the assessment. The Ministerial Council states that it is debatable whether this study is useful and therefore questions whether it was appropriate regulatory conduct for FSANZ to include the data in the assessment report. Concerns were expressed about FSANZ considering this study when it has been acknowledged that such studies are of limited scientific value for assessment purposes. It was asserted that FSANZ was using a 'technical assessment process' to 'influence public perceptions of the risks of GM food' and the use of animal feeding studies.

4. Background

FSANZ received an Application from Bayer CropScience Pty Ltd on 27 September 2007 seeking approval in the Code for food derived from GM cotton, line GHB614 (known commercially as GlyTolTM), under Standard 1.5.2 – Food produced using Gene Technology. Cotton line GHB614 is tolerant to the broad leaf herbicide glyphosate. To be approved for food use in Australia and New Zealand under this Standard, GM foods undergo a pre-market safety assessment, which is conducted by FSANZ.

The genetic modification in cotton line GHB614 consists of a single herbicide tolerance trait introduced by the transfer of a modified 5-enol-pyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase gene, *2mepsps*, derived from corn. The EPSPS protein is a key enzyme involved in the shikimate pathway for biosynthesis of aromatic amino acids in plants, and is normally inhibited by glyphosate, ultimately leading to the death of the plant. Two simple mutations were introduced into the wild type *epsps* gene from corn, using site-directed mutagenesis. The mutations introduced into the 2mEPSPS enzyme significantly reduce its sensitivity to glyphosate, allowing the enzyme to continue to function in the presence of the herbicide.

Plants expressing 2mEPSPS are therefore able to tolerate treatment with herbicides containing glyphosate as the active ingredient.

The Applicant has developed glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 for cultivation in major cotton producing countries worldwide, including eventually in Australia. While cottonseed oil is used in a large number of food products consumed by humans, the main source in the Australian domestic market is from cotton cropped locally. It is expected therefore that if approved, oil derived from GHB614 cotton would be found mainly in imported foods and would be unlikely to be present in significant amounts in the Australian or New Zealand markets.

Prior to Final Assessment, FSANZ completed a comprehensive safety assessment of food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614, which included consideration of (i) the genetic modification introduced into the plant; (ii) the potential toxicity and allergenicity of the novel protein; and (iii) the composition of GHB614 cottonseed, compared with that from conventional cotton varieties. This included a comprehensive scientific evaluation of the food (oil and linters) derived from cotton line GHB614 according to FSANZ guidelines¹, and consideration of issues raised in two rounds of public consultation.

No public health and safety concerns were identified in the safety assessment. On the basis of the available evidence, including detailed studies provided by the Applicant, food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 is considered as safe and wholesome as food derived from other commercial cotton varieties.

5. Conclusions from the Final Assessment Report

The Executive Summary and the reasons for the decision, which were approved by the FSANZ Board in December 2008, are provided in this Report at **Attachment 2**. The decision to approve food from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 was made on the basis of the findings of the safety assessment which identified no public health and safety concern.

6. Issues addressed in First Review

6.1 Ingestion of recombinant DNA in food

The persistence and uptake of ingested recombinant DNA in the GI tract is a general issue that has been the subject of extensive consideration and publication for more than 15 years. Based on prolonged scientific discourse, the consensus view is that as DNA from all living organisms is structurally similar, the presence of recombinant DNA in food products, in itself, poses no additional health risk to consumers (WHO 1991, WHO 1993, Karenlampi 1996, Jonas *et al* 2001, Gaye & Gillespie 2005, Flachowsky et al 2007, EFSA 2007)². Similar conclusions have been reached by expert consultations and intergovernmental bodies which have been convened specifically to address the safety of the presence of antibiotic resistance marker genes in foods (WHO 1993, Karenlampi 1996).

FSANZ continues to monitor the scientific literature for studies relevant to the safety assessment of GM foods and is fully cognisant of the literature dealing with this topic.

¹ FSANZ (2007) Guidance Document – Safety Assessment of Genetically Modified Foods ²Full citations are listed in **Attachment 3**.

FSANZ does not regard this as an issue that requires specific and explicit consideration for each GM food assessment. A response on this issue prepared for other reviews is available on FSANZ's website at:

http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/newsroom/factsheets/factsheets2008/gmfoodssafetyofinges 4072.cfm.

6.2 Purity of samples used for compositional analyses

Clarification was requested as to whether glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 and control samples used in the compositional analysis were sufficiently pure, as contamination of non-GM control samples with GM material could mask any differences, and reduce the confidence that can be placed in a conclusion of no significant difference.

Information provided by the Applicant states that in relation to control cotton Coker 312, the 'seed lot was found to be free of adventitious presence' of genetically modified cottonseed, including glyphosate tolerant cotton line 1445 (RoundUp Ready) and cotton line 15985 (Bollgard II) 'at the 0.1% limit of detection with a 95% confidence interval'. This analysis was undertaken with lateral flow strip detection following the guidelines and protocols established by the product manufacturer.

In relation to cotton line GHB614, the 'seed lot was found to have a purity of 99.33% at the 95 % confidence interval' for glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 'with a trait homozygosity of 94.03% at the 95% confidence interval.' In addition, the 'seed lot was found to be free of adventitious presence' of:

- certain other genetically modified cottonseed, including glyphosate tolerant cotton line 1445 (RoundUp Ready) and cotton line 15985 (Bollgard II) at the 0.37% limit of detection with a 95 % confidence interval;
- events DGH066-2301³ and DGH066-1802⁴ at the 0.09% limit of detection with a 95% confidence interval.

The seed analysis used a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) protocol established by the testing laboratory. The quality control information provided by the Applicant indicates that the methods used to prepare and identify the materials used in the compositional analyses complied with Good Laboratory Practice (GLP). The Applicant has therefore demonstrated that the compositional studies, including the determination of the purity of samples used in the analyses, were conducted in compliance with GLP and that appropriate techniques with sufficient sensitivity for detecting any cross-contamination were used to verify the tested material. On this basis, FSANZ is satisfied that the conclusions drawn from the studies are scientifically valid. In future assessments, FSANZ will include relevant information on the integrity of the test materials used in the compositional analyses to ensure that there are no grounds for general concerns about sample purity.

³ Another cotton variety with a different trait.

⁴ Another cotton variety with a different trait.

6.3 The use of animal feeding studies in GM food safety assessments

It was asserted in the First Review request that FSANZ was using a 'technical assessment process' to 'influence public perceptions of the risks of GM food' and the use of animal feeding studies. A concern was expressed about FSANZ considering a 40-day study in broiler chickens when it has been acknowledged that such studies are of limited scientific value for assessment purposes.

In relation to animal feeding studies with whole GM foods, FSANZ agrees that studies measuring production quality parameters are only of limited value for assessing the safety of most GM foods. Where a GM food has been shown to be compositionally equivalent to the conventional variety, the evidence indicates that feeding studies using target livestock species do not contribute significant additional information⁵. For this reason, FSANZ does not regard such studies to be an essential part of the information dossier, and explicitly states this view in the safety assessment.

FSANZ includes animal feeding studies, where available, primarily in response to concerns raised in public submissions if such studies are specifically excluded. In fact, FSANZ is mindful that excluding such studies in the past on scientific grounds was perceived by some consumers as a lack of transparency in the assessment process. Therefore, FSANZ has adopted the practice of routinely including an evaluation of whole food animal studies, where they are provided in relation to a particular GM food, while bearing in mind the potential limitations of the studies for assessment purposes. Applicants are expected to provide to FSANZ any animal feeding studies already conducted for evaluation as additional supporting information.

The inherent technical limitations of whole food animal feeding studies are one of the reasons that FSANZ does not rely on these types of studies in its safety assessment of GM foods. FSANZ has addressed the issue of animal feeding studies previously and has posted further information on the website⁶.

7. Review Options

Three options were considered within this Review:

- 1. re-affirm approval of the draft variation to Standard 1.5.2 as notified to the Ministerial Council; or
- 2. re-affirm approval of the draft variation to Standard 1.5.2 subject to any amendments FSANZ considers necessary; or
- 3. withdraw approval of the draft variation to Standard 1.5.2 as notified to the Ministerial Council.

⁵ OECD (2003) *Considerations for the safety assessment of animal feedstuffs derived from genetically modified plants.* Series on the Safety of Novel Foods and Feeds, No. 9. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris.

⁶ <u>http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/foodmatters/gmfoods/frequentlyaskedquest3862.cfm</u>

8. Decision

FSANZ has considered the issues raised by the Ministerial Council in the First Review of Application A614 – Food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614. On the basis of the outcomes of the review, Option 1 is the preferred option. FSANZ has decided to re-affirm its approval of the draft variation to Standard 1.5.2 to permit the sale of food derived from glyphosate tolerant cotton line GHB614, as detailed in **Attachment 1**.

Decision

FSANZ re-affirms its approval of the draft variation to Standard 1.5.2 to permit the sale and use of food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614.

9. Implementation and review

The draft variation to Standard 1.5.2 will come into effect on the date of gazettal.

Attachments

- 1. Draft variation to the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code
- 2. Executive Summary and Reasons for Decision from the Final Assessment Report
- 3. List of references on the safety of recombinant DNA in food

Attachment 1

Draft variation to the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code

Standards or variations to standards are considered to be legislative instruments for the purposes of the Legislative Instruments Act (2003) and are not subject to disallowance or sunsetting.

To commence: on gazettal

[1] Standard 1.5.2 of the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code is varied by inserting in the Table to clause 2 –

Food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton	
line GHB614	

Attachment 2

Executive Summary and Reasons for Decision from the Final Assessment Report

Executive Summary

On 27 September 2007, Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ) received a paid Application from Bayer CropScience Pty Ltd (the Applicant) seeking approval for food derived from genetically modified (GM) cotton, line GHB614 under Standard 1.5.2 – Food produced using Gene Technology in the *Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code* (the Code). Standard 1.5.2 prohibits a food produced using gene technology from being sold or used as an ingredient or component of any food unless it is listed in the Table to clause 2 of that Standard. To be approved under Standard 1.5.2, FSANZ conducts a pre-market safety assessment on all GM foods before they may be sold in Australia and New Zealand.

The genetic modification in cotton line GHB614 consists of a single herbicide tolerance trait introduced by the transfer of a gene encoding a modified form of the enzyme 5-enol-pyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (EPSPS). This enzyme catalyses a key step in the shikimate pathway for biosynthesis of aromatic amino acids in plants, and is normally inhibited by glyphosate which ultimately leads to the death of the plant. Two simple mutations were introduced into the wild type *epsps* gene derived from corn, using site-directed mutagenesis. The mutations introduced into the 2mEPSPS enzyme significantly reduce its sensitivity to glyphosate, allowing continued function in the presence of the herbicide. Plants expressing 2mEPSPS are therefore able to tolerate treatment with glyphosate-containing herbicides.

Cotton line GHB614 has been developed for cultivation in major cotton producing countries worldwide, including eventually in Australia. Cotton derivatives, such as cottonseed oil and linters, are used in many food products and may enter the Australian and New Zealand food supply via locally produced and imported processed products. Currently, there is no approval to grow cotton line GHB614 in Australia or New Zealand.

Safety Assessment

FSANZ has completed a comprehensive safety assessment of food derived from glyphosatetolerant cotton line GHB614, which included consideration of (i) the genetic modification introduced into the plant; (ii) the potential toxicity and allergenicity of the novel protein; and (iii) the composition of GHB614 cottonseed, compared with that from conventional cotton varieties.

No public health and safety concerns were identified in the safety assessment. On the basis of the available evidence, including detailed studies provided by the Applicant, food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 is considered as safe and wholesome as food derived from other commercial cotton varieties.

Labelling

If approved, food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 will be required to be labelled as genetically modified if there is novel DNA and/or novel protein present in the final food. Studies undertaken by the Applicant indicate detectable levels of the novel protein, 2mEPSPS, in cottonseed meal, but not in processed fractions including refined cottonseed oil and linters.

Labelling addresses the requirement of section 18(1)(b) of the FSANZ Act, namely the provision of adequate information relating to food to enable consumers to make informed choices.

Impact of regulatory options

Two regulatory options were considered in the assessment: (1) not approving; or (2) approving food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614, based on the conclusions of the safety assessment. Following analysis of the potential costs and benefits of each option on affected parties (consumers, the food industry and government), approval of this Application is the preferred option as the potential benefits to all sectors outweigh the costs associated with the approval.

Purpose

The Applicant seeks amendment to Standard 1.5.2 to include food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 in the Table to clause 2.

Preferred Approach

To amend Standard 1.5.2 – Food produced using Gene Technology, to include food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 in the Table to clause 2.

Reasons for Preferred Approach

An amendment to the Code approving food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 in Australia and New Zealand is proposed on the basis of the available scientific evidence, for the following reasons:

- the safety assessment did not identify any public health and safety concerns associated with the genetic modification used to produce glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614;
- food derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 is equivalent to food from the conventional counterpart and other commercially available cotton varieties in terms of its safety for human consumption and nutritional adequacy;
- labelling of certain food commodities derived from glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 will be required if novel DNA and/or protein is present in the final food; and
- a regulation impact assessment process has been undertaken that also fulfils the requirement in New Zealand for an assessment of compliance costs. The assessment concluded that the preferred option is an amendment to the Code.

Consultation

The Initial Assessment was advertised for public comment between 12 December 2007 and 6 February 2008; thirteen submissions were received. The Draft Assessment Report was advertised for public comment between 6 August 2008 and 17 September 2008; eighty-two submissions were received. The majority of second round submissions were campaign notices calling for process-labelling of all GM foods.

FSANZ has taken submitters' comments into account in preparing the Final Assessment Report. Specific issues relating to glyphosate-tolerant cotton line GHB614 have been addressed in this Report.

Attachment 3

List of references on the safety of recombinant DNA in food

References considered in previous reviews

Aulrich, K., Reuter, T. & Flachowsky, G. (2002). The fate of foreign DNA in farm animals fed with genetically modified plants. *Proc. Soc. Nutr. Physiol.* **11:** 187 – 188.

Beever, D.E. & Kemp, C.F. (2000). Safety issues associated with the DNA in animal feed derived from genetically modified crops. A review of scientific and regulatory procedures. *Nutrition Abstracts & Reviews* **70**: 197 – 204.

Broll, H., Zagon, J., Butchske, A., Leffke, A., Spielgelberg, A., Böhme, H. & Flachowsky, G. (2005). The fate of transgenic inulin synthesizing potatoes in pigs. *J. Anim. Feed Sci.* **14** (**Suppl. 1**): 333 – 336.

Carver, J.D. & Walker, W.A. (1995). The role of nucleotides in human nutrition. *Nutr. Biochem.* **6:** 58 – 72.

Codex (2004). Guideline for the Conduct of Food Safety Assessment of Foods Derived from Recombinant-DNA Plants (CAC/GL 45-2003), Codex Alimentarius Commission, Rome.

Collas, P. & Aelstrom, P. (1997). Rapid targeting of plasmid DNA to zebrafish embryo nuclei by the nuclear localization signal of SV40 antigen. *Mol. Mar. Biol. Biotechnol.* **6**: 48 – 58.

Doerfler, W. (1991). Patterns of DNA methylation – evolutionary vestiges of foreign DNA inactivation as a host defence mechanism. A proposal. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* **372:** 557 – 564.

Doerfler, W., Orend, G., Schubbert, R., Fechteler, K., Heller, H., Wilgenbus, P. & Schroer, J. (1995). On the insertion of foreign DNA into mammalian genomes: mechanism and consequences. *Gene* **157**: 241 – 245.

Doerfler, W. & Schubbert, R. (1997). Fremde DNA im Saugersystem. Deut. Arzt. 94: 51 - 52.

Ebbehoj, K.F. & Thomsen, P.D. (1991). Species differentiation of heated meat products by DNA hybridisation. *Meat Sci.* **30:** 221 – 234.

EFSA (2007). EFSA statement on the fate of recombinant DNA or proteins in meat, milk and eggs from animals fed with GM feed. European Food Safety Authority <u>http://www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/Non_Scientific_Document/Annex_EFSA%20statement%20DNA%</u> 20proteins%20gastroint.pdf (accessed on 25 July, 2007).

Einspanier, R., Klotz, A., Kraft, J., Aulrick, K., Poser, R., Schwägele, F., Jahreis, G. & Flachowsky, G. (2001). The fate of forage plant DNA in farm animals: a collaborative case study investigating cattle and chicken fed recombinant plant material. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* **212**: 129 134.

Flachowsky, G., Halle, I. & Aulrich, K. (2005). Long term feeding of Bt-corn – a 10 generation study with quails. *Arch. Anim. Nutr.* **59:** 449 – 451.

Flachowsky, G., Aulrich, K., Böhme, H. & Halle, I. (2007). Studies on feeds from genetically modified plants (GMP) – Contributions to nutritional and safety assessment. *Animal Feed Sci. Technol.* 133: 2 – 30.

FSANZ (2007). Safety Assessment of Genetically Modified Foods, Foods Standard Australia New Zealand, Canberra.

http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/GM%20FINAL%20Sept%2007L%20_2_.pdf

Gaye, P.B & Gillespie, S.H (2005). Antibiotic resistance markers in genetically modified plants : a risk to human health? *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **5:** 637 – 646.

Gorlick, D. & Mattaj, I.W. (1996). Nucleocytoplasmic transport. Science 271: 1513-1518.

Guralnick, B., Thomsen, G. & Citovsky, V. (1996). Transport of DNA into the nuclei of *Xenopus* oocytes by a modified VirE2 protein of Agrobacterium. *Plant Cell* **8**: 363 – 373.

Hupfer, C., Hotzel, H., Sachse, K., Moreano, F. & Engel, K.H. (1998). Detection of the genetic modification in heat-treated products of Bt-maize by polymerase chain reaction. *Z. Lebensm. Unters. Forsch. A* **206**: 203 – 207.

Jonas, D.A., Elmadfa, I., Engel, K.-H., Heller, K.J., Kozianowski, G., A. König, A., Müller, D., Narbonne, J.F., Wackernagel, W. & Kleiner, J. (2001). Safety considerations of DNA in food. *Ann. Nutr. Metab.* **45:** 235 – 254.

Jones, D.H., Partidos, C.D., Steward, M.W. and Farrar, G.H. (1997). Oral Delivery of Poly(Lactide-C0-Glycolide) Encapsulated Vaccines. Behring Inst. Mitt., **98:** 220-228.

Kärenlampi, S. (1996). Health effects of marker genes in genetically engineered food plants. Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen, Denmark, 66 pp.

Levy, S. B. & Miller, R.V. (1989). *Gene transfer in the environment*. McGraw-Hill Publishing Company, New York.

Malatesta, M., Caporaloni, C., Gavaudan, S., Rocchi, M.B.L., Serafini, S., Tiberi, C. & Gazzanelli, G. (2002). Ultrastructural morphometrical and immunocytochemical analyses of hepatocyte nuclei from mice fed on genetically modified soybean. *Cell Struct. Funct.* **27**: 173 – 180.

Mazza, R., Soave, M., Morlacchini, M., Piva, G. & Marocco, A. (2005). Assessing the transfer of genetically modified DNA from feed to animal tissues. *Transgenic Res.* **14:** 775 – 784.

Mercer, D.K., Scott, K.P., Bruce-Johnson, W.A., Glover, L.A. & Flint, H.J. (1999). Fate of free DNA and transformation of the oral bacterium *Streptococcus gordonii* DL1 by plasmid DNA in human saliva. *Appl. Env. Microbiol.* **65:** 6 – 10.

Netherwood, T., Martín-Orúe, S.M., O'Donnell, A.G., Gockling, S., Graham, J., Mathers, J.C. & Gilbert, H.J. (2004). Assessing the survival of transgenic plant DNA in the human gastrointestinal tract. *Nature Biotechnol.* **22**: 204 – 209.

Nielsen, K.M., Bones, A.M., Smalla, K. & van Elsas, J.D. (1998). Horizontal gene transfer from transgenic plants to terrestrial bacteria – a rare event? *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* **22:** 79 – 103.

Orend, G., Knoblauch, M., Kammer, C., Tjia, S.T., Schmitz, B., Linkwitz, A.,, Meyer G., Maas, J. & Doerfler, W. (1995). The initiation of de novo methylation of foreign DNA integrated into a mammalian genome is not exclusively targeted by nucleotide sequence. *J. Virol.* **69**: 1226–1242.

Palacios, I., Hetzer, M., Adams, S.A. & Mattaj, I.W. (1997). Nuclear import of U snRNPs requires importing beta. *EMBO J.* **16:** 6783 – 6792.

Palka-Santini, M., Schwarz-Herzke, B, Hösel, M., Renz, D., Auerochs, S., Brondke, H. & Doerfler, W. (2003). The gastrointestinal tract as the portal of entry of foreign macromolecules: fate of DNA and proteins. *Mol. Gen. Genomics* **270**: 201 – 215.

Paul, J.H. (1992). Intergeneric natural plasmid transformation between Escherichia coli and a marine Vibrio species. In: *Genetic Transfers and Environment*, pp. 61–67 (Ed. M.J. Gauthier) Springer Verlag Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.

Popov, S., Rexach, M., Zybarth, G., Reiling, N., Lee, M.A., Ratner, L., Lane, C.M., Moore, M.S., Blobel, G. & Bukrinksy, M. (1998). Viral protein R regulates nuclear import of the HIV-1 preintegration complex. *EMBO J.* **17**: 909 – 917.

Reuter, T. & Aulrich, K. (2003). Investigations on genetically modified maize (Bt-maize) in pig nutrition: fate of feed ingested foreign DNA in pig bodies. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* **216**: 185 – 192.

Rosenberg, E., Koren, O., Reshef, L., Efrony, R., Zilber-Rosenberg, I. (2007). The role of microorganisms in coral health, disease and evolution. *Nature Reviews Microbiol.* **5:** 355 – 362.

Saphire, A.C., Guan, T., Schirmer, E.C., Nemerow, G.R. & Gerace, I. (2000). Nuclear import of adenovirus DNA in vitro involves the nuclear protein import pathway and hsc70. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**: 4298 – 4304.

Schubbert, R., Lettmann, C. & Doerfler, W. (1994). Ingested foreign phage M13 DNA survives transiently in the gastrointestinal tract and enters the bloodstream of mice. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* **241:** 495 – 504.

Schubbert, R., Renz, D., Schmitz, B. & Doerfler, W. (1997). Foreign M13 DNA ingested by mice reaches peripheral leukocytes, spleen, and liver via the intestinal wall mucosa and can be covalently linked to mouse DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **94:** 961–966.

Schubbert, R., Hohlweg, U., Renz, D. & Doerfler, W. (1998). On the fate of orally ingested foreign DNA in mice: chromosomal association and placental transmission to the fetus. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* **259:** 569 – 576.

Straub, J.A., Hertel, C. & Hammes, W.P. (1999). The fate of recombinant DNA in thermally treated fermented sausages. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* **210**: 62 – 67.

Tony, M.A., Butschke, A., Broll, A., Zagon, J., Halle, I., Dänicke, S., Schauzu, M., Hafes, H.M. & Flachowsky, G. (2003). Safety assessment of Bt-176 maize on broiler nutrition: degradation of maize DNA and its metabolic fate. *Arch. Anim. Nutr.* **57**: 235 – 252.

WHO (1991). Strategies for assessing the safety of foods produced by biotechnology, Report of a Joint FAO/WHO Consultation. World Health Organization, Geneva.

WHO (1993). Health aspects of marker genes in genetically modified plants, Report of a WHO Workshop. World Health Organization, Geneva.

Woodhams, D.C., Rollins-Smith, L.A., Alford, R.A., Simon, M.A. & Harris, R.N. (2007). Innate immune defenses of amphibian skin: antimicrobial peptides and more. *Animal Conservation* **10**: 425 – 428.

Zeimienowicz, A., Gorlich, D., Lanka, E., Hohn, B. & Rossi, L. (1999). Import of DNA into mammalian nuclei by proteins originating form a plant pathogenic bacterium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA **96:** 3729 – 3733.